**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

Appeal from Dorchester County
Court of Common Pleas

Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-18-02583

Court of Appeals Case No. 2019-000644
Unpublished Opinion No. 2022-UP-113 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 16, 2022)

Supreme Court Case No. 2022-000847

Jennifer McFarland and Carlton Holcombe,

Petitioners,

v.

Thomas Morris and David Hannemann,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP
Russell G. Hines (SC Bar No. 72100)
25 Calhoun Street, Suite 400
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
P.O. Box 993 (29402)
(843) 720-5488

Attorney for Petitioners

RECEIVED

Jul 11 2022

SC Court of Appeals

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. In affirming the trial court’s judgment in this nonjury matter, did the Court of Appeals err in the following respects:**
- A. Does the Subject Opinion merely recite propositions of statutory law from S.C. Code Ann. §§ 33-31-830(a), -830(d), and -831(a) without identifying any evidentiary basis on which they can reasonably be applied in this case? And, indeed, is there any evidentiary basis on which they can reasonably be applied in this case?**
 - B. (1) Did Petitioners fail to state the issues on appeal in compliance with Rule 208, SCACR, and (2) even assuming, *arguendo*, there was some sort of technical oversight with respect to Petitioners’ issue statement, did the Court of Appeals fail to address Petitioners’ alternative argument that they should be allowed to amend their principal appellate brief to correct the same?**
 - C. The Subject Opinion appears to suggest the abandonment of some issue/argument on the basis that it is conclusory, but does the Subject Opinion actually identify any issue/argument to which this applies?**
 - D. Does the Subject Opinion overlook the fact that the Declaratory Judgment Claim does not only seek injunctive relief but also seeks declaratory relief?**
 - E. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to recognize that the trial court erred in making findings of fact and conclusions of law that are materially incomplete, not supported by the evidentiary record, and/or erroneous as a matter of law?**

¹ “Petitioners” or “Plaintiffs” refers to Plaintiffs/Appellants, Jennifer McFarland (“Mrs. McFarland”) and Carlton Holcombe (“Mr. Holcombe”), collectively.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Comprising just seven single-family homes, Live Oak Village (the “Subdivision”) is a small residential subdivision in Summerville. (*See generally* R. pp. 500–83.) Property ownership in the Subdivision is subject to recorded covenants and restrictions (collectively, the “Covenants”). Every lot owner is a member of the Live Oak Village Homeowners Association, Inc. (the “HOA”),² which is a South Carolina nonprofit corporation organized for the purpose of managing the business of the Subdivision’s homeowners association. (R. p. 563.) The HOA is empowered to administer and enforce the Covenants. (R. p. 505 § 3.1; *see also* R. p. 536 § 3.1.)

Per its by-laws (the “By-laws”),³ the HOA is to be governed by a three-member board of directors (collectively, the “Board,” with each individual member a “Director”). (R. p. 565.) The Board is charged with the “manage[ment] and direct[ion] [of] the affairs of the [HOA]” and is authorized to “exercise all of the powers of the [HOA] subject only to approval by the Owners [(i.e., the HOA members)] . . . when such is specifically required by the[] By-laws.” (R. p. 567.) The By-laws provide for the Board’s annual election of the HOA’s executive officers, most notably the HOA president, who is the HOA’s chief executive officer. (R. p. 569.)

This action was commenced on November 16, 2012, in the Dorchester County Court of Common Pleas. (*See generally* R. pp. 64–72.)⁴ The operative complaint is the amended complaint

² (R. p. 506 § 3.2; *see also* R. p. 537 § 3.2.)

³ Together, the Covenants and the By-laws are the “Governing Documents.”

⁴ The original plaintiffs in the action were the HOA and three HOA members: Mrs. McFarland; Mr. Holcombe; and Mr. Holcombe’s wife, Ute (“Mrs. Holcombe”). (*See generally* R. pp. 65–72.) The HOA claims, i.e., the claims asserted in the name of the HOA itself, were initiated by Mrs. McFarland’s husband, Director and HOA president William McFarland (“Mr. McFarland”). (R. pp. 58–62, p. 123:19–24, p. 131:17–20.) The original defendants were Defendants/Respondents, Thomas Morris (“Mr. Morris”) and David Hannemann (“Mr. Hannemann”) (collectively, “Respondents” or “Defendants”), who were the two other Directors besides Mr. McFarland, and two other HOA members: Sofia and Michael Mazell. (*See generally* R. pp. 65–72.) As reflected in the above caption, however, the only remaining parties to the action

filed October 31, 2014,⁵ and of the four causes of action asserted therein only one—Petitioners’ claim for declaratory and injunctive relief against Respondents (the “Declaratory Judgment Claim”)—is involved in this appeal. The gravamen of the Declaratory Judgment Claim is that Respondents caused the HOA/Board to become dysfunctional by willfully operating, and continuing to operate, outside the scope of their authority as Directors and in violation of the Governing Documents. (R. p. 100 ¶¶ 5–7.) The Declaratory Judgment Claim seeks (1) a judicial declaration as to Respondents’ wrongful acts/omissions in violation of the Governing Documents (and the legal consequences thereof) and (2) an injunction prohibiting (i.e., protecting against) the continuation/recurrence of those violations. (R. pp. 102–03 at Prayer for Relief.)

In March of 2015, the trial court granted summary judgment against Petitioners on the Declaratory Judgment Claim, as well as against the HOA on the claims that Mr. McFarland had initiated on its behalf, prompting an immediate appeal by Petitioners and the HOA. (R. pp. 1–6, pp. 15–24, pp. 824–25.)⁶ The appeal resulted in affirmance of summary judgment against the HOA but reversal of summary judgment against Petitioners on the Declaratory Judgment Claim,⁷ and the case was remitted to the trial court on January 23, 2018. (*See* R. p. 63.)

By consent order filed March 23, 2018, all remaining claims but for the Declaratory Judgment Claim were dismissed, the case caption was amended to show Petitioners and Respondents as the only remaining parties, and the case was transferred to the nonjury docket for trial of the Declaratory Judgment Claim. (R. pp. 25–35.)

are Petitioners (Mrs. McFarland and Mr. Holcombe) on the plaintiffs’ side and Respondents (Messrs. Morris and Hannemann) on the defendants’. (R. pp. 25–35.)

⁵ (*See generally* R. pp. 99–103.)

⁶ The trial court also granted summary judgment against Mrs. Holcombe on all of her claims, but she chose not to appeal.

⁷ (R. pp. 58–62.)

The case came on for a nonjury trial on October 30–31, 2018, before the Honorable Maite Murphy. (*See generally* R. pp. 115–499.) At the conclusion of trial, the trial court held the record open for post-trial submissions by the parties. (R. p. 497:14–25.) Following receipt of the parties’ post-trial submissions,⁸ the court took the matter under advisement until January 14, 2019, when it filed its order setting forth its findings of fact and conclusions of law, ruling in Respondents’ favor. (R. pp. 36–53.) Petitioners timely moved for alteration, amendment, and/or reconsideration of the decision or, alternatively, a new trial. (R. pp. 781–823.) On March 14, 2019, the trial court entered an order granting in part and denying in part Petitioners’ motion. (R. pp. 54–57.)

This appeal timely followed by notice served and filed April 12, 2019,⁹ and in due course, it was fully briefed and made ready for decision. The Court of Appeals heard oral argument on February 9, 2022, and thereafter decided the appeal via an unpublished opinion filed March 16, 2022, i.e., the Subject Opinion, affirming the trial court.

The instant petition timely follows.

ARGUMENT

I. In affirming the trial court, the Court of Appeals erred in the following respects:

- A. The Subject Opinion merely recites propositions of statutory law from §§ 33-31-830(a), -830(d), and -831(a) without identifying any evidentiary basis on which they can reasonably be applied in this case—and indeed there is none.**

It appears that the Court of Appeals believes Respondents can take refuge under §§ 33-31-830(a) and (d) because they acted in good faith, with the care an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would have exercised under similar circumstances, and in a manner they reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the HOA and, likewise, under § 33-31-831(a) because of the

⁸ (*See generally* R. pp. 806–24, pp. 841–57.)

⁹ (R. pp. 858–59.)

fairness exception to the prohibition against directors engaging in conflict of interest transactions. But the Subject Opinion is completely silent as to why the court believes this is so. Conceptually, the Court of Appeals only addressed what is *not* in dispute—that these statutory provisions exist—without actually addressing what *is* in dispute—whether there is an evidentiary basis on which they can reasonably be applied in this case—and as shown in Petitioners’ challenge to the trial court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law, there is none. (*See, infra; see also* Br. of Appellants pp. 10–45.)

B. (1) Petitioners did not fail to state the issues on appeal in compliance with Rule 208 and (2) even assuming, *arguendo*, there was some sort of technical oversight with respect to Petitioners’ issue statement, the Court of Appeals did not address Petitioners’ alternative argument that they should be allowed to amend their principal brief to correct the same, as allowing them to do so would be in furtherance of the interests of justice and would not cause any undue prejudice to Respondents.

As an initial matter, Petitioners’ counsel would note that, to the best of his recollection, this subject did not come up at all at oral argument. While counsel does not mean to suggest that the silence on this subject at oral argument is of any particular legal effect, as a practical matter, it is surprising to think that if there were any material issue in this regard it would have gone completely unaddressed.

In any event, “appellate rules should not be written or interpreted to create a trap for the unwary lawyer or party.” *Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 25, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004). The trial court decided this nonjury matter in a 17-page order that enumerates 20 separate findings of fact and 7 conclusions of law,¹⁰ and Petitioners take issue with nearly all of them. (*See generally* Br. of Appellants.) Petitioners’ issue statement reads as follows: “In deciding this case in favor of Respondents (following a nonjury trial), did the trial court err in making findings of

¹⁰ (*See generally* R. pp. 36–53.)

fact and conclusions of law that are materially incomplete, not supported by the evidentiary record, and/or erroneous as a matter of law?” (Br. of Appellants p. 1.) It is a meaningful and reasonably tailored expression of the substance of each argument Petitioners presented for review with respect to each of the various specific findings and conclusions in issue—each of which was addressed with specificity, under specific sub-headings, in the Argument section of Petitioners’ principal appellate brief. *Cf. Johnson v. Roberts*, 422 S.C. 406, 411, 812 S.E.2d 207, 210 (Ct. App. 2018) (“The factual theory Appellant presented to the circuit court is not identical to the factual theory she argues here. *But Appellant’s statement of issues on appeal is broad enough to encompass the argument she presents to this court . . .*”) (emphasis added).

But, out of an abundance of caution, even to the extent that fault might reasonably be found with respect to Petitioners’ issue statement, Petitioners expressly argued in their reply brief that they ought to be allowed to amend their brief and correct the same. (Reply Br. of Appellants pp. 5–7.) The Court of Appeals failed to address this. Given the interests of justice (favoring judgment on the merits) and the lack of any undue prejudice to Respondents, to the extent fault might reasonably be found with respect to Petitioners’ issue statement, Petitioners should have been allowed to amend their appellate brief to correct any such problem, a task which would appear to require no more than copying and pasting their argument headings (slightly revised so as to be phrased as questions) into their issue statement. *See, e.g., Henning v. Kaye*, 307 S.C. 436, 415 S.E.2d 794 (1992).

C. The Subject Opinion appears to suggest the abandonment of some issue/argument on the basis that it is conclusory, but the Subject Opinion does not identify any issue/argument to which this applies.

Here again, this subject did not come up at oral argument. But in any event, the Subject Opinion simply does not say what issue/argument Petitioners are supposed to have abandoned as

conclusory. Petitioners dispute any such abandonment and contend that their issues/arguments are duly presented and supported, but at a minimum, the Court of Appeals should have made clear the issue/argument to which it is referring in this regard and Petitioners should have been allowed the opportunity to be heard in challenge to the same and/or, assuming, *arguendo*, there is indeed some technical deficiency, Petitioners should have been allowed to correct the same, as allowing them to do so would be in furtherance of the interests of justice and would not cause any undue prejudice to Respondents. *See, e.g., Henning*, 307 S.C. 436, 415 S.E.2d 794.

D. The Subject Opinion overlooks the fact that the Declaratory Judgment Claim does not only seek injunctive relief but also seeks declaratory relief—as indeed the Court of Appeals’ own prior opinion in the first appeal in this case recognizes.

In pertinent part, the Court of Appeals’ prior opinion (i.e., its opinion reversing the trial court’s summary judgment against Petitioners on the Declaratory Judgment Claim) reads as follows:

Appellants McFarland and Holcombe argue the circuit court erred by granting summary judgment on their declaratory judgment cause of action because they showed a justiciable controversy. We agree. McFarland and Holcombe properly stated a cause of action under the Declaratory Judgments Act (DJA) because a justiciable controversy existed. . . .

McFarland and Holcombe’s allegations amount to claims that Respondents Morris and Hannemann were violating the covenants and restrictions (C&R), which was an agreement contractual in nature, in their capacities as directors. They claimed Morris and Hannemann had already violated the C&R, rather than alleging some hypothetical, future event would violate the C&R. We believe such allegations amount to a claim of an existing controversy regarding the rights and status of a writing or contract. Such allegations reasonably come within section 15-53-30 and satisfy the requirement for a justiciable controversy.

Additionally, we find the circuit court erred by requiring McFarland and Holcombe to establish constitutional standing, which includes showing an injury in fact. The circuit court explained they lacked

standing to bring a declaratory judgment action because they failed to satisfy our supreme court's test for constitutional standing. However, we find McFarland and Holcombe acquired standing to bring this cause of action by statute, specifically the DJA. *See ATC S., Inc. v. Charleston Cty.*, 380 S.C. 191, 195, 669 S.E.2d 337, 339 (2008) (explaining there are three ways a party may acquire standing, including "by statute"). Therefore, they were not required to possess constitutional standing.

(R. pp. 58–62.)

As the Court of Appeals itself has recognized in this very case, Petitioners "allegations amount to a claim of an existing controversy regarding the rights and status of a writing or contract [i.e., the Governing Documents]. Such allegations reasonably come within section 15-53-30 and satisfy the requirement for a justiciable controversy" in an action for declaratory judgment. The Subject Opinion erroneously fails to recognize that Petitioners are entitled to declaratory relief independent from injunctive relief.

E. The Court of Appeals erred in failing to recognize that the trial court erred in making findings of fact and conclusions of law that are materially incomplete, not supported by the evidentiary record, and/or erroneous as a matter of law.

Re: Finding of Fact No. 4¹¹

The October 4, 2012, special Board meeting at which Defendants purported to vote Mr. McFarland out as HOA president and Mr. Hannemann in his place could not possibly have been valid. Notice of the meeting was only placed in the mail to Mr. McFarland on October 1, 2012. (*See* R. pp. 657–658.) Mr. McFarland could not have actually gotten it until after that date, and the meeting notice could not possibly have been given in compliance with the By-laws. (*See* R. p. 566 (providing that special Board meetings require "not less than three (3) days notice to each director mailed or presented personally to such director with such time.") Indeed, three *full days*

¹¹ (*See* R. p. 43; R. pp. 54–55.)

after October 1st could not have possibly *passed* until October 5th. See *Town of Summerville v. City of North Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 112, 662 S.E.2d 40, 42–43 (2008) (“[W]here the time prescription mentions only the passage of a number of days, a ‘day’ means a calendar day, beginning and ending at midnight.”). Moreover, with only Defendants involved in the process of moving, seconding the motion, and voting to remove Mr. McFarland as HOA president and of nominating, seconding the nomination, and voting to elect Mr. Hannemann to take Mr. McFarland’s place as HOA president, the proceedings were out of proper order and tainted by conflict of interest and self-dealing. Even Defendants’ own witness Ms. Greene still recognized Mr. McFarland to be HOA president after October 4, 2012, and she also attested to Defendants having aligned themselves against Mr. McFarland, rending the Board dysfunctional. (See R. pp. 670–673; R. p. 465, lines 3–21.)

Re: Finding of Fact No. 5¹²

In a footnote, the trial court states: “[Mrs.] McFarland was a member of the HOA’s Board of Directors during the period of ‘well over a year’ that the tenant was purportedly living in the Mazell’s residence. The record is devoid of any evidence that [Mrs.] McFarland took any action regarding this issue while she was a member of the Board of Directors.” This criticism of Mrs. McFarland is not supported by the evidentiary record. Although Mrs. McFarland had frequently seen the tenant (more precisely, the person she would later learn to be the tenant) for quite a while before her September 7, 2011, letter to the Board, it was not until August of 2011, when her teenage daughter, upon returning home after a morning run, told her there was “a man standing over on [the] Mazzels’s property looking at me and it’s kind of creepy,” that Mrs. McFarland had reason

¹² (See R. p. 43.)

to focus her attention on the nature of the tenant’s presence in the neighborhood. (*See* R. p. 129, line 24 – p. 130, line 13.)

Re: Finding of Fact No. 6¹³

While the trial court correctly notes that “[i]n response to [Mrs.] McFarland’s letter, an impromptu discussion was held among the members of the Board of Directors regarding the possibility of hiring a property manager to remedy the Mazell tenant issue,” the court does not address the contradiction between this finding and Mr. Hannemann’s testimony that he thought the property manager was only going to “[h]andle the bills” and would not be involved in addressing violations of the Governing Documents. (R. p. 232, line 23 – p. 233, line 1.) Mr. Hannemann’s testimony was irreconcilable with, among other things, the plain language of his own April 19, 2012, email to Mr. McFarland acknowledging that, “sometime in September 2011,” there had been “[a]n unscheduled impromptu discussion of the B[oard] . . . *to review options of hiring a Property Manager to deal with a possible violation of the [Governing Documents].*” (R. p. 604; *see also* R. p. 243, line 20 – p. 244, line 7.)

While it is technically correct that “[a]t no time was a Board of Directors meeting noticed or held pursuant to the Bylaws wherein a majority of the Board of Directors members constituting a quorum voted to approve the hiring of a property manager, nor was there unanimous written consent of all Board of Directors members approving the hiring of a property manager,” the trial court does not address the overwhelming evidence that—notwithstanding the position they have taken in this litigation—neither Mr. Morris nor Mr. Hannemann questioned Ms. Greene’s legitimacy as HOA property manager at the time,¹⁴ but rather, as explained above, they both (as

¹³ (*See* R. p. 43.)

¹⁴ (*See, e.g.*, R. p. 231, lines 4–12.)

did Mrs. Morris, for that matter) acted as if Ms. Greene was indeed HOA property manager, not only in their direct communications with Ms. Greene but also in their inclusion of Ms. Greene on HOA-related communications and documents. (*See* R. pp. 599, 607–611, 627–628, 630–633, 637, 640–644, 654–655, 659–663, 665, 670–673, 675–682.)

Re: Finding of Fact No. 7¹⁵

While the trial court states, “it is evident from the testimony and evidence that the Board of Directors never voted upon Greene’s levying of fines against homeowners,”¹⁶ the court overlooked the fact that the Board was rendered dysfunctional by Defendants, who had, again, as Ms. Greene documented, aligned themselves together against Mr. McFarland. (*See* R. p. 670–673; R. p. 465, lines 3–21.) In other words, the court overlooked the fact that it would not have been possible to have a vote of the Board wherein Mr. Hannemann and Mr. Morris himself voted to fine Mr. Morris.¹⁷

Re: Finding of Fact No. 8¹⁸

The trial court’s finding about Mr. Morris’s reasonable belief as to the process to be followed for his landscaping project is not supported by the evidentiary record. To begin, this finding does not take into account, and is irreconcilable with, the Governing Documents. The Covenants expressly provide: “The failure to enforce any rights, reservation, restriction or

¹⁵ (*See* R. pp. 43–44; R. p. 55.)

¹⁶ (R. p. 44.)

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