THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

**RECEIVED**

**Aug 05 2022**

---

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

---

Supreme Court Case No. 2022-000847

Appellate Case No. 2019-000644

Case No. 2012-CP-18-02583

---

Jennifer McFarland and Carlton Holcombe,.....Petitioners,

vs.

Thomas Morris and David Hannemann,.....Respondents.

---

**RESPONDENTS' RETURN  
TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

WALL TEMPLETON & HALDRUP, P.A.  
Morgan S. Templeton (S.C. Bar No. 15456)  
William W. Watkins, Jr. (S.C. Bar No. 73582)  
Post Office Box 1200  
Charleston, South Carolina 29402

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

This matter was tried non-jury. “In actions at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the lower court must be affirmed where there is any evidence which reasonably supports the judge’s findings.” Sloan v. Greenville Cnty., 356 S.C. 531, 544, 590 S.E.2d 338, 345 (Ct. App. 2003). As will be explained, the Record below firmly supports the decisions of the trial court and Court of Appeals, and many points are manifestly without merit. While Petitioners remain dissatisfied with that outcome, there are no “special and important” reasons justifying the granting

of certiorari. The Petition should be denied as there was ample evidence to support the decisions below.

## II. COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter involves disputes between residents of the Live Oak Village subdivision located in Summerville, South Carolina. Live Oak Village is a small community that includes seven lots and common areas governed by the Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions for Live Oak Village, Summerville, South Carolina, as amended, and Bylaws of Live Oak Village Homeowners Association, Inc. (“HOA”). (R. pp. 531–62, Amended Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions for Live Oak Village, Summerville, South Carolina; R. pp. 563–81, Bylaws of Live Oak Village HOA]. The HOA is governed by the Board of Directors (“Board”), which is comprised of three elected directors. (R. pp. 563–81, Bylaws of Live Oak Village HOA]. The three directors of the Board at all times relevant hereto unless otherwise specified are William McFarland, David Hannemann, and Thomas Morris. (R. p. 314, Tr. Trans. pp. 200:14–21).

William McFarland, purportedly on behalf of the HOA, and three individual homeowners, Jennifer McFarland, Carlton Holcombe, and Ute Holcombe, filed a Complaint in the Dorchester Court of Common Pleas on November 16, 2012 against Thomas Morris (“Morris”), David Hannemann (“Hannemann”), Sofia Mazell, and Michael Mazell. (R. pp. 64–72, Compl.). An Amended Complaint was filed on October 31, 2014, asserting the following causes of action: (1) declaratory judgment alleged by all Plaintiffs as to Morris and Hannemann; (2) conspiracy alleged by all Plaintiffs against all Defendants; (3) slander alleged by Plaintiff Jennifer McFarland against Defendants Sofia and Michael Mazell; and (4) breach of the covenants and restrictions alleged by all Plaintiffs against Defendants Sofia and Michael Mazell. (R. pp. 98–103, Amend. Compl.).<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> The Amended Complaint filed on October 31, 2014 is the most recently filed complaint and the operative complaint. [See R. pp. 98–103, Amend. Compl.]. The Amended Complaint is identical

The Plaintiffs' cause of action against Morris and Hannemann for declaratory judgment sought, in sum, a declaration that Morris and Hannemann acted outside the scope of their authority as Board members and failed to abide by the HOA's Declaration of Covenants and Restrictions and Bylaws. (R. p. 101, Amend. Compl. ¶ 8). In connection with the declaratory judgment action, Plaintiffs also sought "injunctive relief prohibiting [Morris and Hannemann] from taking further action and/or serving on the Board of Directors for the Live Oak Village Homeowner's Association." (Id., Amend. Compl. at ¶ 9). On or about November 11, 2014, Morris and Hannemann filed an Answer to the Amended Complaint, Counterclaims, and a Third-Party Complaint against William McFarland alleging causes of action for breach of fiduciary duty, negligence/negligence per se, conversion of HOA funds, accounting, and indemnity. (See generally R. pp. 104–14, Morris & Hannemann's Ans. to Amend. Compl., Counterclaims, and Third-Party Compl.).<sup>2</sup>

On or about January 16, 2015, Morris and Hannemann filed an amended motion for summary judgment with respect to Plaintiffs' claims on the bases that: (1) the Plaintiffs lacked standing because (a) Jennifer McFarland, Carlton Holcombe, and Ute Holcombe had not suffered any damages or injury in fact required to seek declaratory relief and (b) the HOA failed to follow the requirement for Board approval prior to filing a lawsuit pursuant to the HOA's Bylaws; and (2) the Plaintiffs had no damages and their claims fail as a matter of law where (a) Ute Holcombe has no claim and has not been damaged and (b) the Plaintiffs have suffered no special damages

---

to the original Complaint but added a fourth cause of action for breach of the covenants and restrictions alleged by all Plaintiffs against Defendants Sofia and Michael Mazell. [See R. pp. 64–72, Compl.; see also R. pp. 98–103, Amend Compl.).

<sup>2</sup> Plaintiffs and Third-Party Defendant William McFarland ultimately moved for summary judgment with respect to Morris' and Hannemann's counterclaims/third-party claims, which was granted by order of the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein filed March 13, 2015. [See R. pp. 6–14, Order Granting Plaintiffs' and Third-Party Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment filed March 13, 2015). This ruling was not appealed by Morris and Hannemann.

required to sustain an action for conspiracy. (See R. pp. 687–704, Defendants Thomas Morris’ and David Hannemann’s Amended Motion for Summary Judgment filed January 16, 2015). By order filed March 13, 2015, the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein granted in part and denied in part Morris and Hannemann’s motion for summary judgment and dismissed all causes of action other than the conspiracy action asserted by Plaintiffs Jennifer McFarland and Carlton Holcombe. (R. pp. 15–24, Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Defendants Thomas Morris’ and David Hannemann’s Amended Motion for Summary Judgment filed March 13, 2015).

Plaintiffs Jennifer McFarland, Carlton Holcombe, and Mr. McFarland (improperly acting in the name of the HOA) appealed Judge Goodstein’s order granting Morris and Hannemann partial summary judgment. (See R. pp. 824–25, Notice of Appeal filed March 20, 2015).<sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion on December 21, 2016 affirming in part and reversing in part holding: (1) Plaintiff HOA failed to follow the requirement for Board approval prior to filing a lawsuit pursuant to the HOA’s Bylaws and, thus, the order granting summary judgment as to the HOA’s causes of action was affirmed; and (2) Plaintiffs Jennifer McFarland and Carlton Holcombe did, in fact, have standing to assert the declaratory judgment action and, thus, the order granting summary judgment in this respect was reversed. (R. pp. 58–62, Live Oak Village Homeowners Association, Inc., et al. v. Thomas Morris, et al., Unpublished Opinion No. 2016-UP-519 (S.C. Ct. App. Dec. 21, 2016)). The remittitur was filed on January 25, 2018 leaving the following remaining causes of action before the trial court: (1) Plaintiffs Jennifer McFarland’s and Carlton Holcombe’s declaratory judgment action against Defendants Thomas Morris and

---

<sup>3</sup> Plaintiff Ute Holcombe did not join in the appeal. Jennifer McFarland, Carlton Holcombe, and the HOA also appealed Judge Goodstein’s separate order granting partial summary judgment in favor of Defendants Sofia and Michael Mazell with respect to the causes of action asserted against them by the HOA. (R. pp. 1–5, Order Granting Defendants Sofia and Michael Mazell’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment filed March 3, 2015).

David Hannemann; (2) Plaintiff Jennifer McFarland's action for slander against Defendants Sofia and Michael Mazell; and (3) Plaintiffs Jennifer McFarland's and Carlton Holcombe's action for civil conspiracy against all Defendants.

By consent order filed March 23, 2018 and executed by the Honorable Maite Murphy, the parties agreed, in pertinent part, as follows:

- (1) Plaintiff Jennifer McFarland's slander cause of action against Defendants Sofia and Michael Mazell was voluntarily dismissed with prejudice;
- (2) Plaintiffs Jennifer McFarland's and Carlton Holcombe's civil conspiracy cause of action against all Defendants was voluntarily dismissed without prejudice and with leave to re-file within one year after the filing of the consent order;<sup>4</sup> and
- (3) With the only remaining claim being the declaratory judgment action, the case was transferred to the non-jury docket.

On October 30 and 31, 2018, the declaratory judgment action and action for injunctive relief was tried before the Honorable Maite Murphy. At the conclusion of trial, the trial court held the record open for additional post-trial submissions by the parties. The Plaintiffs timely submitted a proposed order to Judge Murphy on or about November 13, 2018 and the Defendants timely submitted a proposed order to Judge Murphy on or about November 26, 2018. (See R. pp. 826–840, Pls.' Proposed Order; see also R. pp. 841–57, Defs.' Proposed Order). By order dated January 14, 2019, Judge Murphy entered a Final Order and Judgment in favor of the Defendants. (R. pp. 36–52, Final Order and Judgment in Favor of Defendants filed January 14, 2019). The Plaintiffs then filed a Motion to Alter, Amend, and/or Reconsider or, Alternatively, for a New Trial on or about January 24, 2019. (R. pp. 781–805, Plaintiffs' Motion to Alter, Amend, and/or Reconsider or, Alternatively, for a New Trial filed January 24, 2019). This motion was granted in part and

---

<sup>4</sup> Of note, the civil conspiracy cause of action was never re-filed within one year of the date of the consent order and, thus, the dismissal is now with prejudice. (See R. pp. 25–32, Consent Order filed March 23, 2018).

denied in part by order filed March 14, 2019 wherein Judge Murphy amended four findings of fact and adopted and incorporated by reference conclusions of law set forth in the January 14, 2019 Final Order and Judgment in Favor of Defendants. (R. pp. 54–57, Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Plaintiffs’ Motion to Alter, Amend, and/or Reconsider or, Alternatively, for a New Trial filed March 14, 2019).

On April 12, 2019, Plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal of the January 14, 2019 Final Order and Judgment in Favor of Defendants and the March 14, 2019 Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Plaintiffs’ Motion to Alter, Amend, and/or Reconsider or, Alternatively, for a New Trial. (R. pp. 858–60, Notice of Appeal filed April 12, 2019). The court of appeals heard oral argument on February 9, 2022, and thereafter issued a unanimous unpublished *per curiam* opinion on March 16, 2022, affirming the trial court. After two extensions, the instant Petition for Certiorari was filed July 11, 2022.

**III. COUNTER-STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Did the Court of Appeals properly conclude that the evidence at trial supported its conclusion that the Petitioners were not entitled to any relief sought?

**IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“A writ of certiorari is not a matter of right, but of sound judicial discretion, and will be granted only where there are special and important reasons.” SCACR 242(b). As this Court has stated, “a writ of certiorari will be granted only when there are special and important reasons, such as when there are novel questions of law; a dissent in the decision of the court of appeals; the decision of the court of appeals is in conflict with a prior decision of this Court; substantial constitutional issues are directly involved; or a federal question is included, and the decision of the court of appeals conflicts with a decision of the United States Supreme Court.” Benjamin, 430 S.C. 235, 844 S.E.2d 373.

“In actions at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the lower court must be affirmed where there is any evidence which reasonably supports the judge’s findings.” Sloan, 356 S.C. at 544, 590 S.E.2d at 345. Even if the nature of the action is considered one at equity based on the equitable relief sought, that relief is dependent upon the outcome of a legal interpretation, i.e. the interpretation of the master deed and bylaws. “A legal question in an equity case receives review as in law.” Id. “Even if a case is tried in equity if it is actually a law case, the appellate court will apply the scope of review in law cases.” Id. Here, Petitioners are simply arguing that the trial court and court of appeals did not accept their version of the facts. That, however, does not displace the fact that there was evidence presented, considered, and accepted by the trial court supporting the conclusion that Respondents were entitled to a verdict in their favor.

## V. ARGUMENT<sup>5</sup>

### A. The Court of Appeals correctly held there was an evidentiary basis for the application of §§ 33-31-830(a), 830(d), and 831(a).

The trial court and Court of Appeals correctly held that Morris and Hannemann “did not exceed the scope of their authority as members of the HOA’s Board of Directors and as officers of the HOA” and “committed no act or omission that breached the standard of care of directors of nonprofit corporations pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 33–31–830.” (R. p. 50, Order and Judgment p. 15, Conclusion of Law Number 1).<sup>6</sup> The Petitioners argue that Morris and Hannemann acted out of bad faith, dishonesty, or incompetence and, therefore, their decisions as directors should be set aside because they are *ultra vires*. “In a dispute between the directors of a homeowners

---

<sup>5</sup> Petitioners include 5 principal arguments and then address 16 separate findings of fact and all conclusions of law.

<sup>6</sup> For a further discussion on the evidentiary basis supporting the trial court’s decision contained in the Record see Section V(E): “The Court of Appeals did not err in its consideration of the factual Record, nor in its application of the law.” *infra*.

association and aggrieved homeowners, the conduct of the directors should be judged by the ‘business judgment rule’ and absent a showing of bad faith, dishonesty, or incompetence, the judgment of the directors will not be set aside by judicial action.” Goddard v. Fairways Dev. Gen. P’ship, 310 S.C. 408, 414, 426 S.E.2d 828, 832 (Ct. App. 1993) (citing 4 S.C.Juris. *Condominiums* § 42 (1991); Dockside Ass’n, Inc. v. Detyens, 291 S.C. 214, 352 S.E.2d 714 (Ct.App.1987), aff’d, 294 S.C. 86, 362 S.E.2d 874 (1987)). “A court should be reluctant to question action taken *intra vires* by the governing board of a non-profit corporation.” Id. (citing Papalexiou v. Tower West Condominium, 167 N.J.Super. 516, 401 A.2d 280, 286 (Chanc.Div.1979) (“[i]f the corporate directors’ conduct is authorized, a showing must be made of fraud, self-dealing or unconscionable conduct to justify judicial review.”). “This is especially true where the action taken by the governing board of a non-profit corporation requires the board’s business judgment.” Id. “In such instances, the governing board is entitled to have the validity of its *intra vires* action tested by the ‘business judgment’ rule.” Id. (citation omitted). “Under the business judgment rule, a court will not review the business judgment of a corporate governing board when it acts within its authority and it acts without corrupt motives and in good faith.” Id. at 217, 352 S.E.2d 714 at 716 (citing H. Henn, *Law of Corporations*, § 242 at 482-83 (2d. ed. 1970)). The burden is on the alleged aggrieved party to demonstrate the board’s lack of good faith. See id.

**B&C: The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the Petitioners did not comply with SCARP 208 and Petitioners conclusory arguments without citation to authority do constitute abandonment as noted by the Court of Appeals.**

The Petitioners have not preserved their arguments on appeal because they have failed to set forth anything other than the broadest statement of issues on appeal that could apply to nearly any case or fact pattern. See Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR (stating that “[o]rdinarily, no point will

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